ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2014-002770

RECEIVED

JUL 17 2015

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Appellant,

vs.

Steven Hoss Walters, Jr.,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The circuit court erred in dismissing the State's case against Respondent when the video recording produced by the State fully complied with section 56-5-2953(A) of the South Carolina Code.
- II. The circuit court erred in finding section 56-5-2953(B) had no application in this case and in not finding, based on a totality of the circumstances, the State produced a proper video recording and the underlying case should not have been dismissed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was stopped by Trooper McAdams travelling along Interstate 77. Trooper McAdams arrested Respondent for driving under the influence (DUI) second offense and issued a uniform traffic ticket. (Uniform Traffic Ticket; R. 39). The York County Grand Jury subsequently indicted Respondent for DUI on November 6, 2014. (Indictment; R. 40-41). On December 16, 2014, Respondent proceeded to trial before the Honorable Lee S. Alford.

Prior to trial, Respondent moved to dismiss the case based on an alleged violation of section 56-5-2953(A) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2014). The trial court dismissed the case and found no exceptions under section 56-5-2953(B) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2014) applied to the case. The State timely filed its Notice of Appeal on December 23, 2014. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in dismissing the State's case against Respondent when the video recording produced by the State fully complied with section 56-5-2953(A) of the South Carolina Code.

The court erred in finding the State failed to produce a video recording in compliance with section 56-5-2953(A) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2014). The State produced a video recording which began no later than the Trooper's activation of his blue lights, recorded and showed all field sobriety tests being performed, and included the Trooper reading Respondent his Miranda rights prior to his arrest. As a result, the trial court erred in finding the video failed to comply with the requirements of section 56-5-2953(A) and erred in dismissing the case.

In the instant case, Trooper McAdams activated his blue lights which activated his in-car camera. He pulled Respondent over and, after speaking with him, proceeded to administer field sobriety tests as part of a DUI investigation. The tests were conducted on the side of the interstate, at night, in a poorly lit area. As a result, Trooper McAdams left his lights on, including his flashing lights, for both safety and illumination. (T.8-10; R. 8-10). During the HGN test, Trooper McAdams positioned Respondent facing away from the flashing lights because he had been taught the flashing lights could cause false positives in the HGN test. (T.9-10; R. 9-10). The trial court found because Trooper McAdams chose to position the defendant in this manner, resulting in the Trooper's hand not being visible at all times during the test, the State failed to comply with the requirements of Section 56-5-2953(A). (T.22-25; 34-38; R.22-25; 34-38).

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). In interpreting statutes, the Court looks to the plain meaning of the statute and the intent of the legislature. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 32, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008). A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Id. at 33, 667 S.E.2d at 733. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself. Id. "Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." Pittman, 373 S.C. at 561, 647 S.E.2d at 161. However, the statute must also be read as a whole and in harmony with its purpose. State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010). Accordingly, "[a] statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers." Browning v. Hartvigsen, 307 S.C. 122, 125, 414 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1992).

Section 56-5-2953 requires:

- (A) A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.
- (1)(a) The video recording at the incident site must:
 - (i) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights;
 - (ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and
 - (iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953 (A) (Supp. 2014).

The statute requires a video recording of the incident site, and in doing so, specifically provides what must be videotaped. Section 56-5-2953(A) indicates the individuals conduct at the incident site must be recorded and then provides the requirements for meeting this requirement. Specifically the recording must: 1) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights; 2) include any field sobriety tests administered; and 3) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights. The clear language of the statute does not require every aspect of the HGN test to be seen so that the jury or any viewer can judge the person's performance or the Trooper's administration of the test.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has explained: "the purpose of section 56-5-2953 . . . is to create direct evidence of a DUI arrest." Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 347, 713 S.E.2d 278, 285 (2011). The video is to **document** the arrest, document any field sobriety tests the Trooper administered, and **document** the defendant's conduct during the tests. As explained, the video began before Trooper McAdams stopped Respondent's vehicle and continued uninterrupted during the administration of the field sobriety tests, the reading of Miranda, and Respondent's arrest. (Video of Incident Site). The purpose of the video is not to allow a jury to see exactly what is seen by the officer during the field sobriety tests or any other time. The purpose is not to provide the jury with the ability to assess a person's attempt to complete a field sobriety test. The video is a **documentary** of the actions performed by the officer and the defendant's conduct after being stopped.

Contrary to the findings of the circuit court, the plain language of the statute does not require the Trooper's hand to be visible at all times during the administration of the HGN field sobriety test, nor does it require the video to provide the viewer with the ability to assess the defendant's success or failure on the video or the officer's conduct during the test. It merely says the video recording must "include any field sobriety tests administered." S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953 (A)(1)(a)(ii) (Supp. 2014). The positioning of the defendant during the test should be at the discretion of the officer and can be considered by the jury in the weight that they give the test. As long as the test is documented by the video the officer has fully complied with the video recording requirements.

As the Court of Appeals correctly found in Murphy v. State, 392 S.C. 626, 709 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2011), the statute does not require that the recording capture "a continuous full view of the accused." Nothing in the amended statute has changed this requirement. The plain language of the statute, even after amendment, requires nothing more than the defendant's conduct be captured during the administration of the field sobriety tests. The plain language requires the person's overall demeanor, behavior, or actions be captured on the video recording, which they were in this case.

Further, and even more important in light of the trial court's ruling dismissal was required because you could not see the Trooper's hand during the test, the statute says nothing about the officer's conduct being recorded. Section 56-5-2953(A) does not indicate in any way the jury or viewer of the video should be able to assess the conduct or performance of the officer. It requires the conduct of the person be recorded and then requires documentary evidence the field sobriety tests were performed.

The statute also does not require a recording of a particular quality, or a recording in the best possible lighting conditions, or any other such limitation. The ruling by the circuit court forces an absurd decision to be made by officers attempting to protect the public from drunk drivers. Under the circuit court's ruling, officers are better off not performing any field sobriety tests, than performing the tests and risk a dismissal because the video recording is not perfect, especially when done in less than ideal circumstances of darkness with the Trooper's lights flashing. This Court's ruling will have the effect of 1) encouraging officers to perform no field sobriety tests and turn the subsequent DUI trial into a battle of credibility with little supporting video evidence—a result which clearly defeats the legislative purpose of creating evidence of the DUI through the video; 2) requiring a professional videographer and lighting assistant travel with him so as to produce a movie perfect video recording capturing all details even in the dark of night, which of course is when a significant number of DUIs occur; or 3) allowing the jury to perform its duty in properly considering any “defects” in the video recording, especially when the defendant is unable to articulate any prejudice resulting from the “defects.” See e.g., State v. Chandler, 267 S.C. 138, 143, 226 S.E.2d 553, 555 (1976) (“exclusion of evidence should be limited to violations of constitutional rights and not to statutory violations, at least where the appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice at trial resulting from the failure to follow statutory procedure.”). The State submits the video in this case clearly complied with the clear, unambiguous statutory requirements of section 56-5-2953 and the third option above, allowing the jury to perform its duty of weighing the evidence, is the common sense, appropriate result.

As long as the recording includes “any field sobriety tests administered,” it is in compliance with the plain, unambiguous language of the statute, and the circuit court erred in finding otherwise. Requiring a field sobriety test to be recorded in a manner which allows a person watching the recording to make an assessment as to how well the driver-suspect performed the test or how well the officer administered the test adds requirements to the statute not found in the clear, unambiguous language. Further, the requirement places an absurd burden on those attempting to enforce the laws of the state and protect the citizens from the dangers of drunk drivers. See Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 87, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (“When the language of a statute is clear and explicit, a court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature’s language”); see also, State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 713 S.E.2d 621 (2011) (recognizing that where a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning).

The State submits that as long as a juror can tell the arresting officer is administering the test, there is compliance with section 56-5-2953(A). Here, the video recording leaves no doubt Trooper McAdams conducted the HGN test. The video is recorded under less than perfect conditions and using less than perfect equipment, both beyond the control of the Trooper. He positioned Respondent in a manner he believed best allowed him to assess Respondent’s performance to determine whether to make an arrest for DUI. As a result, while it is clear Trooper McAdams conducted the HGN test—it can be seen and heard on the video—the recording is not perfect. This, however, is not and should not be the requirement under the statute. Certainly the legislature did

not intend to craft a video recording statute which will result in the dismissal of many night time DUIs because the video is not perfect.

In State v. Gordon, 408 S.C. 536, 759 S.E.2d 755 (Ct. App. 2014) (Certiorari granted)¹, this Court determined: “Because of the purpose of the videotaping to create direct evidence of the arrest, if the actual tests cannot be seen on the recording, the requirement is pointless.” In Gordon, this Court affirmed the circuit court’s finding (on appeal from a magistrate court’s finding that the recording was only required to show the conduct of the defendant) that the head must be shown during the HGN test. Id. This Court’s opinion indicates the actual test must be seen on the video, but does not add the requirement added in this case that the jury be able to assess the officer’s administration of the test including seeing his hand move back and forth at all times and be able to judge the distance from the person’s eyes at which the officer begins the test.²

Further, it appears the circuit court acknowledges the Trooper produced a video, but believes the issue related to the content or quality of the content of the video. Any issues regarding the quality of the content of the video should go to its weight and the weight to be assigned the video by the trier of fact. See State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 342 n.6, 748 S.E.2d 194, 207 n.6 (2013) (“factual discrepancies . . . go to the weight of the evidence”); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 636 S.E.2d 150, 153 (Ct. App. 2007) (Stilwell, J., concurring opinion) (lack of audio on surveillance videotape of drug sting went to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility); Weaver v. Lentz, 348 S.C. 672, 680, 561 S.E.2d 360, 364-365 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Questions as to the accuracy of

¹ To the extent necessary, the State will move to argue against the precedent of Gordon.

² Counsel for Respondent’s argument indicated you could not tell if Trooper McAdams hands were 12-15 inches from Respondent and his hand was blocked from the camera behind Respondent’s head for approximately six seconds. (T.15; R.15). The Court accepted these arguments finding the Trooper’s hands needed to be visible the whole time. (T.23; 36; R. 23; 36).

conclusions drawn go solely to the weight of the testimony, rather than its admissibility.”); see also, State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 498 S.E.2d 655, 665 (Ct. App. 1998) (conflict in testimony regarding condition of breathalyzer machine went to weight of the test results rather than admissibility of the evidence), *aff’d as modified*, 343 S.C. 520, 541 S.E.2d 247 (2001). Defects in evidence or procedure generally do not affect admissibility. See, e.g., State v. Odom, 382 S.C. 144, 676 S.E.2d 124 (2009) (citing State v. Huntley, 349 S.C. 1, 562 S.E.2d 472 (2002)).

This case is distinguishable from the cases of City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (2007) or State v. Johnson, 396 S.C. 182, 720 S.E.2d 516 (Ct. App. 2011). In both of those cases, a significant and specifically required portion of the videotape was not produced and an affidavit was not provided. In Suchenski, the officer failed to record all of the field sobriety tests administered and the arrest of the individual as specifically required under section 56-5-2953(A). Suchenski, 374 S.C. at 18, 646 S.E.2d at 881-882. In Johnson, the officer failed to record the administration of the breath test as specifically required. Johnson, 396 S.C. at 190-191, 720 S.E.2d at 520-521.

The State has complied with section 56-5-2953 by producing a videotape with all required events documented. Thus, since the videotape was produced, an affidavit from the arresting officer meeting the requirements of section 56-5-2953(B) was not required, and the circuit court erred in dismissing the case.

Finally, the interpretation of the statute by the circuit court would lead to an absurd result.³ See Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000) (finding courts will reject an interpretation of a statute leading to an absurd result

³ This absurdity is demonstrated in part based on the circuit court’s finding a side view would be “plenty” even though he acknowledged it would also cause problems seeing the full test being administered, and “the argument can be presented any way.” (T.22; 25; R. 22; 25).

clearly unintended by the legislature); State v. Elwell, 396 S.C. 330, 336, 721 S.E.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 2011) (“The statute must be interpreted with realistic circumstances and rationales in mind.”). A Trooper would be forced to possibly compromise a field sobriety test, compromise his or the person’s safety, or forgo a possibly valuable test because it is impossible to comply with the circuit court’s requirement that the test be visible in such a way that the jury can see all aspects of the person’s and the officer’s conduct during the test. The legislature clearly intended documented evidence showing the test was performed, not a cinematic version from all angles which allows the jury or viewer to assess all participants performance during the administration of the test.

The State produced a video in compliance with Section 56-5-2953(A) because it began with the activation of the blue lights, recorded and documented all field sobriety tests performed, and included the reading of Respondent’s Miranda rights prior to his arrest. The circuit court erred in writing new requirements into the statute and in dismissing Respondent’s case.

II. The circuit court erred in finding section 56-5-2953(B) had no application in this case and in not finding, based on a totality of the circumstances, the State produced a proper video recording and the underlying case should not have been dismissed.

The trial court erred in finding section 56-5-2953(B) of the South Carolina Code could not apply to allow the case to proceed without dismissal. Section 56-5-2953(B) clearly allows the trial court to consider the totality of the circumstances in determining whether to allow a case to proceed, and the trial court committed legal error in finding he could not consider the totality of the circumstances. If the circuit court had properly considered the totality of the circumstances, the underlying case would not have been dismissed.

The State submits either the circuit court erred in finding it had the power to dismiss the case based on the language of section 56-5-2953(B) and City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 897 (2007), or the circuit court erred in finding the totality of the circumstances exception of the same subsection had no application in this case. Section 56-5-2953 is divided into two applicable subsections⁴. Subsection (A) sets forth the requirements for video recording at both the incident site and the breath test site. Nothing in the first section provides for dismissal, or any other remedy, for failing to produce a video or failing to produce a video of a certain quality as is at issue in the instant case.

Subsection (B) reads in pertinent part as follows:

Nothing in this section may be construed as prohibiting the introduction of other relevant evidence in the trial of a violation of Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945.
Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video

⁴ The statute has subsections (A) through (G). However, as it relates to the current appeal, only subsections (A) and (B) are applicable.

recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest or probable cause determination, or video equipment at the breath test facility was in an inoperable condition, stating which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, and certifying that there was no other operable breath test facility available in the county or, in the alternative, submits a sworn affidavit certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because the person needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed. . . . Nothing in this section prohibits the court from considering any other valid reason for the **failure to produce** the video recording based upon the totality of the circumstances

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B) (Supp. 2013) (emphasis added). The only provision allowing for the dismissal of the case—Subsection (B)—also allows the court to consider “any other valid reason for the failure to produce the video recording based upon the totality of the circumstances.” Id.

As a result, the circuit court’s determination subsection (B) does not apply must be an error of law. (T.31; R. 31). Either the circuit court improperly dismissed the case because the State produced a video and no other provision outside of subsection (B) even allows for dismissal of the case, or the court should have considered the totality of the circumstances exception found in subsection (B) as requested by the State in making its determination of whether to dismiss the case.

The State submits dismissal was not proper because a video was produced.⁵ In the event this Court finds dismissal was an appropriate remedy, then the State submits the totality of the circumstances clearly favor not dismissing the case.

⁵ As discussed above, the State also submits the video clearly complied with the requirements of section 56-5-2953 and so dismissal was clearly inappropriate.

Trooper McAdams testified he stopped Respondent along a poorly lit stretch of Interstate 77. (T.10; R.10). He indicated he left his vehicle's lights on for safety reasons, to alert traffic to his presence, and to illuminate the area. (T.8; 10; 14; R. 8; 10, 14). Trooper McAdams testified he oriented Respondent with his back to the camera so the flashing lights would not affect the administration of the test by creating their own nystagmus or exacerbating the finding of nystagmus in Respondent.⁶ (T.9-10; R. 9-10). Further, he testified he did not want him facing the lights because it would likely cause Respondent to squint, making a determination of the presence of nystagmus more difficult. (T.14; R.14). The video of the incident scene clearly shows the HGN test being performed; a viewer can hear instructions and see the full test being administered. You cannot see the exact position of the officer's hand, but based on the totality of the circumstances, this should not be enough to require dismissal of the case.

⁶ Optokinetic nystagmus can be caused by the strobe effects of lights or movement of other objects across the field of vision of the person. Officers are trained not to position the person so as to possibly cause Optokinetic nystagmus. See <http://www.nhtsa.gov/people/injury/enforce/nystagmus/hgntxt.html>.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the decision of the circuit court dismissing this case for a violation of section 56-5-2953(A) and refusing to consider the totality of the circumstances under section 56-5-2953(B) should be reversed and this case remanded for trial.