THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002770

RECEIVED
JUL 13 2015
SC Court of Appeals

The State, Appellant,

v.

Steven Hoss Walters, Jr.,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James W. Boyd
Post Office Box 36425
1544 Ebenezer Road
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 328-2600
Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING THE STATE'S CASE AGAINST THE RESPONDENT BECAUSE THE VIDEO RECORDING PRODUCED BY THE STATE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH §56-5-2953 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CODE?
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT §56-5-2953(B) HAD NO APPLICATION TO THIS CASE?

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING THE STATE'S CASE AGAINST THE RESPONDENT BECAUSE THE VIDEO RECORDING PRODUCED BY THE STATE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH § 56-5-2953 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CODE.

The issue in this case is whether the State complied with the video requirements of §56-5-2953(a) of the South Carolina Code when the video failed to include a full recording of one of the field sobriety tests. During the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus Test (HGN) several important parts of the test were missing. It could not be determined when the Trooper started the test or how far his finger was from the head.¹ There were several periods during the test that the Trooper's finger disappeared in front of the Trooper's head.²

South Carolina Code Annotated §56-5-2953(b)(1)(ii) provides that the video recording at the incident site must, "include any field sobriety test administered". A primary rule of statutory construction is that a statute should be construed to give effect to the intent of the legislature. *State v. Elwell*, 403 S.C. 606, 612, 743 S.E.2d 802, 806 (2013); *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 323, 713 S.E. 2d 278 (2011); *State v. Johnson*, 393 S.C. 182, 720 S.E.2d 516, 519 (Ct. App. 2001) The Court should not attempt to derive the intent of the Legislature when the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, supra*. In

¹ R. pg. 15, lines 12-13

² R. pg. 15, line 15- pg. 16, line 1

interpreting a statute a Court should give words their plain and ordinary meaning and must not resort to a forced construction that would limit or expand the statute in question. *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, *supra*. *State v. Johnson*, *supra*. Section §56-5-2953(a) does not set forth what is required in the recording of Field Sobriety Tests (FST). The Court must look to evidence of the Legislatures intent in enacting the statute. Prior to the 2009 Amendments, §56-5-2953(a)(1) only required that the conduct of the Defendant be recorded at the incident site. The Court of Appeals held in *Murphy v. State*, 392 S.C. 628, 709 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2011) that the video recording requirements of §56-5-2953 were met although the Defendant's feet could not be seen in the Walk and Turn Test. In *Murphy* the video recording at the incident site showed the Defendant from the waist upwards. The Court in *Murphy* held, "while certainly an individual's performance on such test would be part and parcel of his or her 'conduct' at the incident site, as mentioned, an unbroken recording of the tests is not necessary to capture conduct. Therefore the recording need not display all field sobriety tests provided it captures the accused's conduct." The Court provided a footnote to that statement in the opinion, "As amended in 2009, the current version of Section 56-5-2953 expressly requires the recording of field sobriety tests. See S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-2953(A)(1)(a)(ii) (Supp.2010) ("The video recording at the incident site must: ... include any field sobriety tests administered."). We note that the legislature's amendment of the plain language of the statute to require the recording of field sobriety tests further bolsters our position that the plain language of the prior version, in effect at the time of this action, did not require recording of all tests". The quote from *Murphy* shows that if a complete recording of an individual's performance on any FST test as not required under the former statute it now required under the amended statute. The 2009 amendment specifically provides for the recording of any FST. This goes beyond the former requirement of merely

recording a person's conduct. Had the Legislature only intended that there be a recording of a person doing a FST, without there being any way to determine the person's performance on the test as in *Murphy*, there would have been no need to amend the statute. It is presumed that the Legislature does not intend for amendments to be futile or meaningless. *State v. Long*, 363 S.C. 360, 610 S.E.2d 809 (2005); *State v. Sweat*, 379 S.C. 367, 665 S.E.2d 645 (Ct. App. 2008). In *State v. Gordon* 408 S.C. 536, 759 S.E.2d 755 (Ct. App. 2014) the Court held, "because of the purpose of the video taping is to create a direct evidence of the arrest, if the actual test cannot be seen on the recording the requirement is pointless".

In the present case the State failed to comply with the videotaping requirements of the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus Test (HGN). The Respondent argues that the video tape recorded the Field Sobriety Test (FST) being given. Although the video camera was recording during Appellant's performance of this test, the Appellant and the Trooper were positioned in such a manner that it could not be determined whether the test was being properly administered. In the present case the trial Court made a factual finding that the HGN test was not properly videotaped so that one could see if it was properly done.³ The Court stated, "I can't see the Officer's hand a good bit of the time, a finger. I don't know what's going on there; I can't see".⁴ The Appellant argues that the interpretation of the statute by the Circuit Court would lead to an absurd result because the Trooper would be forced to possibly compromise a FST or compromise a person's safety if he did as the Court suggested. Referring to conducting the test from a side view the Court stated, "there is no reason why he couldn't have done it at least this way".⁵ This is a factual finding by the lower Court. In reviewing criminal cases the Appellate Court may review only errors of law. *State v. Henderson*, 347 S.C. 455, 556 S.E.2d 691 (2001).

³ R. Pg. 38, lines 7-8

⁴ R. Pg. 37, lines 11-13

⁵ R. Pg. 25, lines 13-14

The video recording provisions of South Carolina Code Annotated 56-5-2953(a) are mandatory. *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 323, 713 S.E. 2d 278 (2011); *City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski*, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E. 2d 879 (2007); *State v. Johnson*, 393 S.C. 182, 720 S.E.2d 516 (Ct. App. 2001). When a prosecuting agency fails to comply with the video recording provisions of §56-5-2953(a) the appropriate remedy is dismissal of the case against the Defendant. *City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski*, supra, *State v. Johnson*, supra. In the *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, supra the South Carolina Supreme Court stated that the unexcused compliance with South Carolina Code Annotated 56-5-2953 mandates the dismissal of a DUI charge. In the case *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, supra, the Court stated, “furthermore it is instructive that the Legislature has not mandated videotaping in any other criminal contest. Despite the potential significance of the videotaping oral confessions, the Legislature, has not required the State to do so. By requiring a law enforcement agency to videotape a DUI arrest the Legislature clearly intended strict compliance with the provision of §56-5-2953 and, and in turn, promulgated a severe sanction for non-compliance.

Thus, we hold that dismissal is an appropriate sanction in the instant case as this was clearly intended by the Legislature and previously decided by this Court in *Suchenski*”.

In *Murphy v State*, 392 S.C. 628, 709 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2011) the Court held that remedy for non-compliance was §56-5-2953 is dismissal of the case, not mere suppression of the evidence.

The Circuit Court properly held that the HGN was not properly videotaped.